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1. Name of Property
(indicate preferred name)


  historic
Spalding-Rigoli House (preferred)

other
Glenhaven
2. Location 
   street and number
11335 Daisy Lane


  

not for publication 

city, town
Glenn Dale


  

vicinity

county
Prince George's
3. Owner of Property
(give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name
Michael D. Bolden and Glenn M. King

street and number
11335 Daisy Lane
telephone
     

city, town
Glenn Dale
state
MD
zip code
20769-9152
4. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc.
Prince George's County Courthouse
liber
22583
folio
646

city, town
Upper Marlboro
tax map
36
tax parcel
377      tax ID number 14 1656230
5. Primary Location of Additional Data


  

 Contributing Resource in National Register District

 

  

 Contributing Resource in Local Historic District



  

 Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register



  

 Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register

 

  

 Recorded by HABS/HAER



  

 Historic Structure Report or Research Report at MHT

 

X

 Other:

Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission, Prince George's County Planning Department







6. Classification

Category               Ownership         Current Function                                                Resource Count

  
district

  
public

  
agriculture

  
landscape






Contributing    

Noncontributing

X
building(s)

X
private

  
commerce/trade

  
recreation/culture

2


2

 buildings

  
structure 

  
both

  
defense

  
religion

    


    

 sites

  
site

X
domestic

  
social

    


    

 structures

  
object

  
education

  
transportation

    


    
   objects


  
funerary

  
work in progress

2


2

 Total


  
government

  
unknown


  
health care

  
vacant/not in use

  Number of Contributing Resources


  
industry

  
other:

previously listed in the Inventory





0


7. Description
          Inventory No. PG: 70-089


Condition


  

 excellent

  

 deteriorated


X

 good

  

 ruins


  

 fair

  

 altered


Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it exists today.

The Spalding-Rigoli House is located at 11335 Daisy Lane in Glenn Dale, Prince George’s County, Maryland. The house is located on a level 2-acre parcel marked by its dense collection of mature trees. A gravel driveway enters the property from the northwest and extends south along the western boundary before turning east to a small turn-around. The lot has been landscaped with immature trees and shrubs, foundation plantings, and flower beds. Concrete and stone walkways extend throughout the property, although no walkway provides access to the principal entry. Although the original parcel has been subdivided to allow for the construction of a large development of single-family dwellings to the west and south, the dwelling’s deep setback, mature trees, and dense foliage provide a secluded feel for the property. A small patio is located south of the dwelling, adjacent to the hot tub and gazebo. A shed is located along the western edge and a prefabricated shed sits in the southwest corner of the property. 

Dwelling
The two-story, three-bay farmhouse has a rear ell and multiple side and rear additions. Based on its form and materials, it appears the Spalding-Rigoli House was constructed c. 1905. Set on a solid brick foundation, this dwelling has a wood-frame structure that has been reclad in aluminum siding and wavy-cut asbestos shingles. The dwelling is capped by a jerkinhead roof of asphalt shingles with overhanging eaves, plain frieze board, a boxed cornice with returns, and simple bed molding. The ghost of the original roofline is present on the western half of the roof, suggesting that the dwelling may have originally had a jerkinhead roof that was changed by the application of additions. An interior brick chimney with corbeled cap pierces the ridge of the roof.
The façade (north elevation) is two bays wide on the first story and three bays on the second story. Clad in aluminum siding, the façade is dominated by a two-story, full-width porch. The wood-frame porch is set on a solid brick foundation and capped by a shed roof of asphalt shingles. The porch features Doric columns with square balusters. The porch decking consists of tongue-in-groove planks laid perpendicular to the elevation wall. Brick steps with knee walls provide access to the central bay of the porch. The first-story ceiling has latticework while the second-story ceiling has rectangular wood panels. Sheltered by the porch, the first story of the main block has a single-leaf door opening in the west bay. This opening holds a replacement paneled wood door with two-light sidelights and a three-light transom. The opening has a square-edged wood surround. The east bay contains paired, elongated 4/8, double-hung, wood-sash windows set in an aluminum-clad surround. The second story contains a single-leaf French door in the west bay flanked to the east by two, 1/1, double-hung, vinyl-sash windows set in aluminum-clad surrounds.

The east (side) elevation of the main block is clad in wavy-cut asbestos shingles. The first story has no fenestration, while a 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash window pierces the second story.
The rear ell is located off the southeast corner of the main block. Based on its form and materials, this is an original feature of the dwelling. The two-story ell has a solid brick foundation and is clad in wavy-cut asbestos shingles. A front-gable roof of asphalt shingles caps the ell and includes overhanging eaves and a boxed cornice with short returns. An interior brick chimney with corbeled cap pierces the ridge of the roof. This chimney is identical to the chimney located on the main block. Fenestration consists of a tripartite window composed of a 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash window flanked by 1/1, double-hung, wood-sash windows on the first story of the east (side) elevation. The second story holds a 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash window with broken muntins. The south (rear) elevation, which is clad in German wood siding, has paired, four-light, wood casements set in a square-edged wood surround. This opening is located on the first story, now part of the integral porch formed by the large rear addition. The west (side) elevation features a two-story bump-out, which based on its form and materials, appears to have been constructed c. 1940. This feature is clad in wavy-cut asbestos shingles and capped by a half-hipped roof of asphalt shingles with overhanging eaves. Fenestration consists of a 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash window located on the second story of the west (side) elevation.
A two-story, three-bay, two-bay-deep addition is located on the west (side) elevation of the main block. Based on its form and materials, this addition was constructed c. 1930. Set on a solid brick foundation, this wood-frame addition is clad in aluminum siding along the façade (north elevation) and wavy-cut asbestos shingles on the west (side) and south (side) elevations. The addition mimics the roof line of the main block, and together, the two form an uninterrupted jerkinhead roof. The roof has overhanging eaves and a boxed molded cornice with returns. The first story of the addition is fenestrated with paired 4/4, double-hung, wood-sash windows. The second story features 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash windows. The façade window openings have square-edged aluminum-clad surrounds and the west (side) elevation have square-edged wood surrounds. The south (rear) elevation has no fenestration.
The east (side) elevation of the main block has a one-story projecting bay that is one bay wide and one bay deep. Based on its form and materials, this addition was constructed c. 1930. Set on the same solid stretcher-bond brick foundation, this wood-frame bay is clad in wavy-cut asbestos siding. The flat roof is covered with asphalt shingles and has narrow overhanging eaves with a boxed cornice with ogee bed molding. Fenestration consists of paired, 4/4, double-hung, wood-sash windows on the façade (north elevation) and south (rear) elevation. The east (side) elevation holds a ribbon of four, 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash windows. All of the window openings are set in square-edged wood surrounds.
A large, two-story addition is located on the rear elevation of the ell. Based on its form and materials, this addition was constructed in the early- to mid-twentieth century. The wood-frame addition is set on a solid parged foundation and is clad in wavy-cut asbestos. A front-gable roof of asphalt shingles caps the addition and includes overhanging eaves and a plain frieze board. An exterior-end brick chimney extends across the tympanum on the south (rear) elevation. The tympanum contains a four-light, wood-sash casement window set in a square-edged wood surround. This addition features an integral first-story porch in the southeast corner that has been partially enclosed with lattice. This porch has square post supports and a solid concrete-block balustrade that has been parged. This porch shelters a single-leaf, paneled wood door with lights, paired four-light wood casements, and a triple-light wood awning. An exterior wood stair with square wood supports and square balusters extends along the east (side) elevation of the addition. This stair provides access to the second-story sleeping porch, which occupies the eastern half of the second story. The porch has been enclosed with a solid balustrade clad with wavy-cut asbestos shingles and paired, single-light sliding vinyl windows. The western half of the rear addition is fenestrated with a 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash window located on the south (rear) elevation. The west (side) elevation contains two 6/6, double-hung, wood-sash first-story windows and two six-light wood awning windows on the second story. All of the window openings have square-edged wood surrounds. 
The southwest corner of the building has a one-story, two-bay addition constructed in the mid-twentieth century. The addition has a rectangular form and projects beyond the western end of the ell. Set on a solid brick foundation, this wood-frame addition is clad in wavy-cut asbestos siding. A shed roof of asphalt shingles caps the addition and has overhanging eaves and a boxed wood cornice. An exterior brick chimney with corbeled shoulders extends from the south (rear) elevation. The chimney stack is flanked by a single-leaf, paneled wood door to the west and a window opening on the east. The entry is set in a narrow surround with back banding and is accessed via a poured concrete stoop with brick highlights and metal railing. East of the chimney are paired, single-light, vinyl-sash casements with multi-light false muntins. The west (side) elevation has two window openings with the same paired, single-light, vinyl-sash casements with multi-light false muntins. The narrow north elevation has a small opening with an air-conditioning unit installed. All of the window openings have square-edged wood surrounds.
Shed

A shed is located at the end of the dirt drive, just southwest of the dwelling. Based on its form and materials, this shed was constructed in the second-quarter of the twentieth century. The shed is set on a solid poured concrete foundation with large aggregate. Clad in German wood siding with corner boards, the wood-frame structure is capped by a front-gable roof. The asphalt shingle roof is covered has overhanging eaves, raking boards, and a plain fascia board. The façade (north elevation) includes a double-leaf, Z-braced wood door set in a square-edged wood surround. The door is attached to the structure via metal strap hinges. The east (side) elevation has a single-light, wood-sash awning window set in a square-edged wood surround. The south (rear) and west (side) elevations have no fenestration.
Prefabricated Shed

A one-story, three-bay prefabricated shed was constructed c. 2005. Set on a concrete-block pier foundation, this wood-frame structure is clad in German vinyl siding. An asymmetrical side-gable roof of asphalt shingles caps the shed and features an overhanging boxed eave along the façade (east elevation). The southeast corner of the building has a security light. The façade has a centrally placed double-leaf door clad in German vinyl siding. The door has metal strap hinges and is set in a vinyl-clad surround. A wood ramp provides access to the door opening. Flanking the entry are two window openings that each holds a 1/1, double-hung, vinyl-sash window with false 1/1 vinyl muntins and inoperable louvered vinyl shutters. The building has no additional fenestration. Small louvered vents are located in the upper gable ends. 
Gazebo

A gazebo constructed c. 2005 is located south of the dwelling and shelters a hot tub. Set on a solid wood foundation, this wood-frame structure has panels of lattice on the east and west elevations that serve as privacy screens. The north and south elevations are open. Wood brackets compliment the exterior of the gazebo. A half-hipped skirt roof of slatted wood planks caps the gazebo.
Integrity
The Spalding-Rigoli House presents a moderate degree of integrity of design and workmanship because of additions and alterations to the original block. Although the dwelling was enlarged multiple times, these historic alterations do not affect the building’s integrity of design because they have achieved significance in their own right. The application of aluminum siding and wavy-cut asbestos shingles has affected, but not compromised, the dwelling’s integrity of materials. The dwelling maintains its integrity of location and feeling despite a reduction in its parcel size. Mature trees and foliage have served well to preserve the core of the property, maintaining its integrity of setting. The house is no longer in the possession of the Spalding or Rigoli families, but remains in use as a single-family dwelling. As a result, the Spalding-Rigoli House has a moderate level of integrity of association.

The shed maintains a high degree of integrity of design, materials, and workmanship. The shed was in good condition at the time of the 2009 on-site survey. The shed presents a high level of integrity of location, setting, feeling, and association as a secondary resource associated with the Spalding-Rigoli House.

The prefabricated shed (c. 2005) and gazebo (c. 2005), based on their recent construction dates, are considered non-contributing resources.

The property on which the Spalding-Rigoli House is located presents an overall moderate degree of integrity.

8. Significance
    Inventory No. PG: 70-089
Period






Areas of Significance




Check and justify below


  
1600-1699  

  
agriculture

  
economics

  
health/medicine

  
performing arts


  
1700-1799

  
archeology

  
education

  
industry

  
philosophy


  
1800-1899

X
architecture

  
engineering

  
invention

  
politics/government


X
1900-1999

  
art

  
entertainment/

  
landscape architecture

  
religion


  
2000-

  
commerce



  recreation

  
law

  
science






  
communications

  
ethnic heritage

  
literature

  
social history






  
community planning

  
exploration/

  
maritime history

  
transportation






  
conservation



 settlement

  
military

X
other:
Local History

  Specific dates
c. 1905


Architect/Builder

unknown

  Construction dates  
c. 1905, c. 1930, c. 1950



  Evaluation for:





  

 National Register


  
 Maryland Register



  


not evaluated


Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of the history of the resource and its context.  (For compliance projects, complete evaluation on a DOE Form – see manual.)

Statement of Significance
The Spalding-Rigoli House, located at 11335 Daisy Lane in Glenn Dale, Prince George’s County, Maryland, was constructed c. 1905 for Arthur Kerr Spalding, a farmer. Spalding died in 1910 and the property remained in the Spalding family until 1919 when it was purchased by Stefano Rigoli. The Rigoli family had emigrated from Italy. The Rigoli family owned and occupied the house until 1977, marking 58 years of ownership. The family is responsible for a majority of the additions to the dwelling. From 1977 until 1980, the property was home to Nicholas W. Panagakos, a long-time employee of the National Aeronautical and Space Administration (NASA) who served as a member of the Mariner 10 Team. The property is currently owned by Michael D. Bolden and Glenn M. King. The Spalding-Rigoli House retains sufficient integrity to convey its significance as a turn-of-the-twentieth-century farmhouse. Further, the expansion of the dwelling is indicative of the growth and success of a farming family in Prince George’s County.
Historic Context

The Spalding-Rigoli House is located in the unincorporated community of Glenn Dale. Glenn Dale developed as a late-nineteenth-century railroad suburb in northern Prince George’s County, south of the intersection of Lanham-Severn Road and Glenn Dale Boulevard. In the 1870s, the Pennsylvania Railroad established a route from Baltimore through Upper Marlboro to Pope’s Creek in Charles County with a branch line into Washington, D.C. The small communities of Lanham, Seabrook, and Glenn Dale were established on this Washington, D.C. branch when the localities were selected as the site of new railroad stations.
 

Glenn Dale originally developed from part of the Duvall family’s large landholdings. Martenet’s map of 1861 shows the rural area, settled only by a few families including the Duvalls, a prominent Prince George’s County family.
 In 1871, the Duvall family, which owned the nearby plantation of Marietta, sold some of their land to their family attorney, John Glenn. Glenn began to sell parcels of his land, and the area soon became known as Glennville.
 The Hopkins map documents that by 1878 the small village, then called “Glendale,” contained several residences, a saw mill, brick yard, blacksmith shop, a store, post office, and St. George’s Episcopal Church, all centered around the train station.
 In the early twentieth century, the community, now called “Glenn Dale,” remained a small railroad village. By 1900, the village contained approximately 17 houses.
 

In 1896 and 1900, Arthur Kerr Spalding purchased approximately twenty acres of land known as “Market Gardens” from members of the Duval family of Baltimore City.
 This property was not part of the platted area of “Glenn Dale,” and as such, retained a rural setting. Smaller farms were prevalent in Prince George’s County at the turn of the twentieth century, and the Spalding-Rigoli House was no exception. Spalding, born in 1854, was from a large family centered in St. Mary’s County and Carroll County, Maryland. Spalding married in 1898.
 At the time of the 1900 U.S. Federal Census, Spalding was enumerated as a resident of Prince George’s County and employed as a government clerk.
 By the 1910 U.S. Federal Census, Spalding is documented as a farmer.
 Spalding’s drastic change in profession suggests that Spalding had the dwelling constructed c. 1905. Arthur Kerr Spalding died in August of 1910.
In 1919, Stefano Rigoli purchased 18.5 acres of land from Will B. Davis, executor under the last will and testament of Arthur Kerr Spalding.
 In 1923, Rigoli enlarged his property with the purchase of approximately three acres from Alice M. and George H. Dunster.
 Stefano Rigoli was born in 1883 in Italy. His wife Edith was born in England. The couple’s first son, Radford, was born in 1909 in England. The onset of World War I (1914-1918) likely forced the temporary separation of the family. Rigoli immigrated to America at an unknown time and settled in Philadelphia; they resided at 34 South 48th Street. The family was reunited when on May 21, 1916, Edith and Radford arrived in New York aboard the St. Louis, bound from Liverpool, England.
 In 1924, the Rigoli family welcomed their second son, William, born in the District of Columbia.
 

At the time of the 1930 U.S. Federal Census, Stefano Rigoli was documented as the manager of a hotel and restaurant.
 Census information for Rigoli prior to 1930 could not be located. Radford Rigoli, now 21 years of age, was documented as an apprentice painter. Edith Rigoli took interest in local affairs and was made a member of the Prince George’s County welfare board in 1934.
 She was also an active volunteer with the Girl Scouts and Boy Scouts of America as well as the National Rifle Association.

At the brink of World War II (1941-1945), Radford Rigoli was enlisted in the Headquarters Company rifle team, Marine Corps Reserve.
 The couple’s other son, William L. Rigoli, passed the Maryland State Bar examination in 1950. He immediately found work as a title examiner for the County Title Co., located at 1507 M Street N.W., Washington, D.C.
 In 1944, both sons conveyed their interest in the property to their mother, Edith M. Rigoli, who was living in the house.
 

In 1961, Edith M. Rigoli devised the property to her two sons in equal shares. According to the deed, “It was never the intention of the said Richard Rigoli and William L. Rigoli to forever divest themselves of their respective interests…”
 The deed also references both of the Rigoli brothers serving abroad in the Armed Forces. Edith S. Rigoli was made a life tenant and resided at the dwelling until her death in December of 1976.

On November 15, 1977, the property passed out of the Rigoli family after 58 years of continuous ownership. Radford Rigoli, along with his brother William and his wife, Betty D. Rigoli, conveyed part of the property, including the dwelling, to Nicholas W. Panagakos.

Nicholas Panagakos lived in the dwelling for three years while employed by the National Aeronautical and Space Administration (NASA) and stationed at NASA Headquarters in Washington, D.C. Panagakos started with the space agency in 1962 and was a member of the Mariner 10 Team as headquarters staff support.
 Prior to his role in the Mariner 10 project, Panagakos served as science editor for the NASA Institute for Space Studies, where he wrote the book The Next Twenty Years in Space.
 A graduate of Harvard College and a recipient of a 1961 Sloan-Rockefeller Fellow for science writing at Columbia University, Panagakos died on December 28, 1980 in Portland, Maine.

On May 18, 1983, Rita L. Doukas, acting as foreign personal representative of the estate of Nicholas W. Panagakos, conveyed the property to Jeffrey R. Beynon and Deanna Rae Wein.
 In 1991, Jeffrey R. Beynon and Deanna Rae Wein conveyed the property to Jeffrey R. Beynon and his wife, Gail R. Beynon.
 Information related to the Beynons could not be located.
In 2005, Michael D. Bolden and Glenn M. King purchased the Spalding-Rigoli House.
 Bolden and King are the current owners. Information related to Bolden and King could not be located.
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10. Geographical Data


  Acreage of surveyed property 

2



  Acreage of historical setting

~20



  Quadrangle name

Lanham


Quadrangle scale:   1:24,000











Verbal boundary description and justification
	The Spalding-Rigoli House is located on a 2-acre parcel located south of the intersection of Daisy Lane and Bell Station Road. Daisy Lane and Bell Station Road form the northern boundary of the property. The east, south, and west boundaries extend along a cut of mature hardwoods and shrubs. The Spalding-Rigoli House, constructed c. 1905, is associated with Parcel 377 as noted on Tax Map 36.
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Chain of Title
Prince George's County Land Records

Parcel A
(Part 1)
Deed











Agnes S. Duval and Emanuel B. Duval to Arthur Kerr Spalding. (approximately 9 acres)
JWB 37:57

June 16, 1896

(Part 2)










Deed











Edmund B. Duval and Agnes S. Duval to Arthur Kerr Spalding. (approximately 9.5

JB 8:323









acres)
January 3, 1900

(Parts 1+2)
Deed











Will B. Davis, executor under last will and testament of Arthur Kerr Spalding, to Stefano 143:356









Rigoli. (approximately 18.5 acres)

June 24, 1919

Parcel B

Deed











Theodore F. Willis and Annie W. Willis to Frank Fitzpatrick. (17.74 acres)

15:563

March 13, 1905

Deed











Eliza F. Fitzpatrick, widow, to Alice M. Dunster. (17.74 acres)
191:211

February 10, 1915

Deed











Alice M. Dunster and George H. Dunster to Stefano Rigoli. (2.77 acres)
206:475

September 26, 1923
Parcels A + B

Will












Will of Stefano Rigoli

Not located

Deed











Radford Rigoli to Edith S. Rigoli. (approximately 20.277 acres)
728:445

February 3, 1944
Deed











William L. Rigoli to Edith S. Rigoli. (approximately 20.277 acres, however this deed 728:446









states that Deed 143:356 contains only 10 acres, instead of the aforementioned 20 acres)
February 3, 1944

Deed











Edith S. Rigoli, widow, to Radford Rigoli and William L. Rigoli.

2596:255

September 14, 1961
Deed











Radford Rigoli, as to an undivided one-half interest, and William L. Rigoli and Betty D NLP 4851:287





Rigoli, his wife, as to the remaining undivided one-half interest, to Nicholas Panagakos. November 15, 1977 

(part of property conveyed to Edith M. Rigoli February 3, 1944, Liber 728 at Folio 445)
Deed











Rita L. Doukas, foreign personal representative of the estate of Nicholas W. Panagakos NLP 5695:240 




(died December 29, 1980), to Jeffrey R. Beynon and Deanna Rae Wein. (part of property May 18, 1983





conveyed to Edith M. Rigoli February 3, 1944, Liber 728 at Folio 445.
Deed











Jeffrey R. Beynon and Deanna Rae Wein to Jeffrey R. Beynon and Gail P. Beynon.
VJ 8051:398

August 28, 1991
Deed











Jeffrey R. Beynon and Gail P. Beynon to Michael D. Bolden and Glenn M. King.
REP 22583:646

June 16, 2005
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Photo: Spalding-Rigoli House, Glenn Dale, view of the façade (north elevation), looking southeast. (September 2009)
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Photo: Spalding-Rigoli House, Glenn Dale, view of the façade (north elevation), looking south.

(September 2009)
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Photo: Spalding-Rigoli House, Glenn Dale, view of the southwest corner, looking northeast. (September 2009)
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Photo: Spalding-Rigoli House, Glenn Dale, view of the southeast corner, looking northwest. (September 2009)
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Photo: Shed, Glenn Dale, view of the northeast corner, looking southwest. (September 2009)
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Photo: Prefabricated Shed, Glenn Dale, view of the façade (east elevation), looking northwest.

(September 2009)
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Photo: Gazebo, Glenn Dale, looking northwest. (September 2009) 
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